IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SD J. WHITE

NOV 6 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By JC
Chief Deputy Clerk

ANDREA HICKS JACKSON, :
Appellant, :
v. :
STATE OF FLORIDA, :
Appellee. :
_____ /

CASE NO. 87,345

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT,
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W.C. McLAIN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 201170
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress of the Case

On June 2, 1983, a Duval County Grand Jury indicted Andrea Hicks Jackson for the first degree murder of Gary Bevel. (R 1-2) Jackson proceeded to a jury trial where she was she was convicted as charged and ultimately sentenced to death for the offense. This court affirmed Jackson's conviction and sentence on direct appeal. Jackson v. State, 498 So.2d 406 (Fla. 1986), cert. denied, 483 US 1010, 107 S.Ct. 3241, 97 L.Ed.2d 746 (1987). Jackson filed a motion for post-conviction relief which the trial court denied. However, this court reversed the denial of the motion and remanded this case for a new sentencing proceeding with a new jury. Jackson v. Dugger, 547 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1989). A new penalty phase proceeding before a new jury commenced on November 4, 1991, which resulted in a death sentence. On appeal, this Court reversed this sentence and again directed a that a new penalty phase trial before a new jury be conducted. Jackson v. State, 648 So.2d 85 (Fla. 1994). The third penalty phase trial began on November 13, 1995. (Tr 126) On November 17, 1995, the jury recommended a death sentence. (R 207) (Tr 1747) Circuit Judge Donald R. Moran, Jr., followed the jury's recommendation and on January 18, 1996, sentenced Andrea Jackson to death. (R 229-239) (Tr 1792-1797) In aggravation, the court found two aggravating circumstances: (1) the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner, sec. 921.141 (5)(i) Fla. Stat.; and (2) three law enforcement related aggravating circumstances -- avoiding arrest, disrupting governmental function and the victim a police officer -- merged into one forming the second

circumstance, secs. 921.141(5)(e)(g) & (j) Fla. Stat. Regarding mitigation, the court rejected the two statutory mental mitigating circumstances concerning extreme mental or emotional disturbance and substantially impaired capacity at the time of the crime, secs. 921.141(6)(b) & (f) Fla. Stat. (R 236-237) The court acknowledged that Andrea had suffered sexual abuse as a child and was addicted to drugs and alcohol. (R 237) However, the court concluded that these nonstatutory factors did not rise to the level of mitigation. (R 237)

Jackson filed her notice of appeal to this Court on February 1, 1996. (R 242)

Facts -- Prosecution's Case

On May 16, 1983, Andrea Jackson drove to her estranged husband's apartment to pick up her children and parked her car on the street. Around 6:00 p.m. and again at 10:00 p.m., neighbors heard Andrea unsuccessfully attempting to start the car. (Tr 610-611, 653) They next observed her breaking the windows out of the car with a crowbar, removing articles from the car, and cursing the automobile and talking to the automobile as if it were a person. (Tr 563-566, 578-580, 611-612, 634, 655-659) She removed tools, tires, the battery, and other items from the car. (Tr 566, 657-658) Andrea was obviously angry because her car would not crank. During this process which lasted over two hours, she carried some items upstairs to her husband's apartment. (Tr 658) Adam Gray, an automobile salesman at Rockett Motors, said that Andrea had brought the car to him on May 15 and May 16 with continued trouble. (Tr 725-729) When he saw her on May 16 in the

afternoon, he did not think she was intoxicated since her speech was not slurred. (Tr 730) She was upset with the car and told him she was going to drive "the mother-fucker off the main street bridge." (Tr 730)

Officer Burton Griffin arrived at the scene pursuant to a disturbance called at approximately 11:00 p.m..(Tr 545, 711) Officer Gary Bevel arrived first, and he volunteered to assist Griffin.(Tr 712) Andrea approached and told the police officers that she owned the car. (Tr 714) At the officer's request, Andrea returned to the apartment and retrieved a bill of sale for car. (Tr 718) She volunteered that she knew who damaged her car. (Tr 719) She would not give the officers a name and Griffin thought she wanted to deal with the problem herself. (Tr 719) Griffin said he detected a faint smell of alcohol on Andrea's breath, but he did not believe she was intoxicated because she walked without stumbling and did not slur her speech.(Tr 715-717) Griffin said that he smelled alcohol on Andrea's breath even though he was never closer than 1 1/2 or 2 feet from her. (Tr 724) The officer said it might be difficult to tell the behavioral effects if a person had taken alcohol, marijuana, cocaine and T's and Blue's on the same day. (Tr 722-723) He also stated that if he had seen someone smashing his car with a crowbar and cursing the car as if it were a person that such irrational behavior would lead him to believe that the person could be under the influence of some substance. (Tr 723-724) Griffin left the scene when Bevel began writing the report and said that he did not need further help.(Tr 719-720)

Four neighbors observed a confrontation between Andrea and Officer Bevel. (Tr 561, 574, 633, 651) Gina Roulhac observed Andrea destroying her car and the arrival of the police officers. (Tr 563-566) Gina and her sister watched from their front porch. (Tr 563) Gina said that she did not see Andrea stumble or fall as she walked as if intoxicated. (Tr 567) However, she was not close enough to overhear anything Andrea said or to tell if she smelled of alcohol. (Tr 572) After talking to Andrea, Officer Bevel approached the Roulhac's doorway. (Tr 566) Bevel was a friend of the family's and had dated one of Gina's sisters. (Tr 566, 573) He asked if they had seen what had happened and they told him that Andrea had damaged her own car. (Tr 568) At that time, Gina went inside her house to use the restroom and she heard shots. (Tr 518) She ran back to the window, but she could only see the patrol car; she could not see Bevel or Andrea. (Tr 569) A tree was blocking a portion of the patrol car from view. (Tr 573-574)

Anna Nelson, Gina's sister, also saw Andrea destroying her car and the confrontation between Andrea and Bevel. (Tr 574-633) Nelson said that Andrea's problems with the car started around 6:30 p.m. and continued for a lengthy period. (Tr 578-579) After unsuccessful attempts to crank the car, Andrea began removing items from the car and smashing the car with a crowbar. (Tr 579) Andrea was angry, and she cursed and talked to the car. (Tr 579-580, 611-612) Officer Bevel arrived at between 10:30 and 11:00. (Tr 581-583) Andrea came downstairs from the apartment and talked to Bevel. (Tr 581-582) Nelson did not see Andrea fall down or slip as she walked. (Tr 584-585) She heard Andrea tell

Bevel she wanted her car towed. (Tr 583) Nelson said that Andrea speech was not slurred. (Tr 584) Nelson said she was about 60 feet away and she was not concerned about determining if Andrea was under the influence of drugs or alcohol. (Tr 599) She was not close enough to tell if Andrea smelled of alcohol. (Tr 613) Andrea went back upstairs to obtain the registration for her car. (Tr 585) After giving the document to Bevel, Andrea returned upstairs. (Tr 585-587) Nelson did not perceive any confrontation between Andrea and Bevel at that time. (Tr 587) Bevel walked to Nelson's house and she told him that Andrea had damaged her car herself. (Tr 588-589)

While Bevel and Nelson were talking, Andrea again came downstairs and went to Bevel's patrol car. (Tr 590) She appeared to be going through things in the front seat of the officer's car. (Tr 590-591, 601) Andrea had put her hand through the open window and appeared to be getting ready to enter the car on the driver's side. (Tr 601-603) Bevel called out to Andrea and asked her why she was in his car. (Tr 591) She came away from the car. (Tr 591) Bevel confronted Andrea and told her he was arresting her for filing a false police report. (Tr 591) Andrea came toward Bevel and began hitting him in the chest. (Tr 592) Bevel grabbed both of Andrea's wrists and restrained her. (Tr 593, 605) They struggled. (Tr 593, 605) Bevel tried to get Andrea into the back of the patrol car. (Tr 605-606) At first, Bevel asked to her to get in the car, but Andrea refused and continued to struggle. (Tr 606) Andrea asked Bevel why he was manhandling her. (Tr 593) Bevel bent down and grabbed Andrea's knees. (Tr 606-607) At this time, Nelson heard keys drop and heard Andrea tell Bevel that he

had made her drop her keys. (Tr 594-595, 606-607) When Bevel grabbed the back of Andrea's knees, this caused Andrea to fall onto the backseat of the patrol car. (Tr 606-607) Nelson heard a gunshot. (Tr 596) After a slight pause, Nelson heard four or five more shots in rapid succession. (Tr 597) Bevel fell into the car onto Andrea; she pushed him off of her and fled. (Tr 598)

Leanderaus Fagg also saw the confrontation with the police officer. (Tr 634-636) He observed Andrea and Bevel talking. (Tr 638-639) Andrea acted angry and hostile and wanted to know where her car had been taken. (Tr 638-639) Bevel informed her that he was arresting her for giving false information, grabbed her and began to place her into the backseat of the patrol car. (Tr 639) Andrea resisted and tried to get away. (Tr 640, 644-645) Andrea was immensely angry and hostile. (Tr 645) The officer bent down to place Andrea into the backseat, and while she was sitting with her legs outside of the car, Fagg heard Andrea tell the officer that he had made her drop her keys. (Tr 641) Bevel paused and stepped back as if to look for keys, and at that time, Fagg heard the gunshots. (Tr 641-642, 645-646) He thought he heard four shots. (Tr 642) The shots were fired in rapid succession almost like an automatic weapon. (Tr 647-648) Bevel fell into the car onto Andrea. (Tr 642) Andrea pushed him from on top of her and then fled from the car. (Tr 642)

Mable Coleman lived in the apartment next door to Shelton Jackson, Andrea's estranged husband. (Tr 651, 654, 681) She knew Andrea and had heard the fights between Andrea and Shelton in the past. (Tr 686) Policemen responded to some of these fights and on one occasion Andrea's used Coleman's telephone to call the

police. (Tr 686) On the night officer Bevel was shot, Coleman saw and heard Andrea trying to start her car. (Tr 653) She heard Andrea's angry outburst and her cursing the car. (Tr 655-657) Coleman had a good view of Andrea demolishing the car, stripping it of certain items and cursing it as if it were a person. (Tr 655-658, 687) When the police officers arrived, Coleman saw Andrea meet with the officers and return upstairs to Shelton's apartment for the car's registration. (Tr 660) She returned to the officers with the papers. (Tr 661-662) Coleman saw Andrea sit in the passenger side of the patrol car while Bevel wrote something. (Tr 662) Andrea left and returned upstairs to Shelton's apartment. (Tr 662) After she left, her car was towed away. (Tr 665) Coleman saw Bevel walked to a neighbors house and talked to someone there. (Tr 662) A short time later, Coleman saw Andrea come out her apartment and start down the stairs. (Tr 663) She saw Andrea stop on the top step and placed a pistol in the waist area of her pants. (Tr 663-664) Andrea then walked to the police car. (Tr 664) Bevel came from the neighbor's house and met Andrea. (Tr 665) Andrea asked, "Where is my damn car?" (Tr 665) Bevel said, "They towed it away." (Tr 665) Bevel then told Andrea to "Get in the car I have to take you downtown." (Tr 665) Coleman did not know Bevel intended to arrest Andrea until he spoke to her at this time. (Tr 681) Andrea responded that she was not going anywhere. (Tr 665-666) By this time, Andrea was struggling with the police officer. (Tr 667) Bevel took Andrea to the back seat of the patrol car. (Tr 667) Coleman remembers seeing Andrea sitting down with her feet still outside of the car. (Tr 667) She heard Andrea say, "Oh, you made me drop my damn keys." (Tr 675)

Bevel and Andrea both leaned forward. (Tr 675) Coleman then heard five, rapidly-fired, gunshots. (Tr 675-676, 704-705) Officer Bevel fell into the car onto Andrea. (Tr 676-677, 705) Andrea pushed Bevel aside and fled. (Tr 677)

A paramedic, Thomas McCone, arrived at the scene shortly after receiving the call at 12:30 a.m. (Tr 734) He found Bevel lying in the backseat of the patrol car suffering from head wounds. (Tr 735-736) Bevel had a pulse and labored breathing. (Tr 735) The upper one-third of Bevel's body was inside the car on the backseat and he was reclining against the back of the front seat. (Tr 735) The remaining two-thirds of Bevel's body was outside of the car. (Tr 735, 738) McCrone did not know if Bevel had been moved and did not ask any of the police officers present if he had been moved. (Tr 738)¹ Soon after moving Bevel to the stretcher, Bevel's heartbeat stopped. (Tr 737)

At the scene, John Bradley, then a detective, recovered several items of evidence. (Tr 498-532) He found Bevel's uniform, baseball type cap with a bullet hole in the brim. (Tr 512) Bevel's bulletproof vest was also collected as evidence. (Tr 513) Bradley noted blood in the floorboard and on the rear seat of the car. (Tr 517-518) Officer Bevel's daily log and an offense report were recovered. (Tr 521-532) The last entry on the investigation report states that the subject possibly made a false report on

¹ Officer John Dean, the first officer at the scene, later testified in the defense case. (Tr 1125) He found Officer Bevel lying in the backseat of the car with his head facing the rear of the backseat. (Tr 1127, 1129) Only Bevel's feet and a portion of his legs were outside of the car. (Tr 1127) Dean pulled Bevel up from his position in order to check for vital signs. (Tr 1129)

the criminal mischief complaint. (Tr 531-532) The detective collected six bullets, five from the medical examiner and one from inside the frame around the door of the car. (Tr 515-516)

Bonifacio Floro, a forensic pathologist, performed the autopsy on Gary Bevel. (Tr 748) Just before he testified, defense counsel renewed his objection to the court's pretrial ruling deny him the right to hire a pathologist to assist in preparing to cross-examine Dr. Floro. (Tr 741-744) Floro found four gunshot wounds to the head and two to the shoulder and back area. (Tr 746-757) Three wounds entered the top of the head and showed stippling which indicated the gun was close when fired. (Tr 755-757) A fourth shot to the head entered above the right eyebrow and showed no stippling. (Tr 757-758) Floro stated this was consistent with the shot which first passed through the brim of the cap which would have filtered the gunshot residue and prevented stippling on the skin. (Tr 758) Additionally, Floro opined that this was the first shot since it would have knocked the cap free of the head before the other shots were fired which caused stippling. (Tr 758) The fifth and sixth wounds were located in the in the shoulder area, one on the top of the shoulder and the other just above the shoulder blade. (Tr 757-758) In response to the prosecutor's hypothetical questions, Floro stated the wounds were consistent with the shooter being in a seated position with Bevel being lower and looking down and away. (Tr 759-760) Floro said the wounds were inconsistent with the shooter lying down with Bevel lying on top of the shooter. (Tr 761) Floro stated that he could not determine the exact positions of the shooter and victim and his opinion was merely dealing with

the consistency of the wounds and the hypothetical positions. (Tr 762-765)

Shirley Freeman testified that Andrea came to the house where she live with Joi Shelton around 1:30 or 2:00 a.m. on the morning of May 17, 1983. (Tr 769-770) Andrea was hysterical and covered in blood. (Tr 770) She also had a gun with her. (Tr 773) Freeman could tell Andrea had been drinking, but she did not think Andrea high or intoxicated. (Tr 442-774) Andrea said she had shot a policeman and she did not want to go back to jail. (Tr 772) Andrea also told Freeman that she did not like men to put their hands on her because she had had bad experiences as a child and someone had tried to rape her. (Tr 777-778) Freeman washed Andrea's clothes to get the blood out and she also called the hospital to check on the officer. (Tr 771, 775) When Andrea learned the officer was dead, she cried and talked about how sorrow she was. (Tr 777) Freeman called a taxicab for Andrea, and she left. (Tr 773) Freeman admitted she had lied in a sworn statement to the police when she said she had picked Andrea up on 20th Street because she was trying to cover for Joi Shelton who had actually done so. (Tr 781-783)

The taxi driver, Carl Lee, picked-up Andrea at 4:15 a.m. (Tr 787) When he first saw Andrea at the door of the cab, she did not appear normal. (Tr 791) Lee had the impression she was high, drunk or sleepy. (Tr 791) After she entered the cab and talked to him, he concluded that she was not drunk or high. (Tr 789) He also noticed that Andrea had a gun. (Tr 789)

Andrea returned to her husband's apartment. (Tr 678- 679) His neighbor, Mable Coleman saw Andrea and called the police. (Tr

679) Officers responded and arrested Andrea. (Tr 793-802) Officer David Diperna, who had been Officer Bevel's supervisor, and Officer George Barge arrested Andrea. (Tr 794-802) Diperna said he saw Andrea as she ran upstairs to her husband's apartment. (Tr 798) They ultimately found Andrea on a porch. (Tr 802) She was lying down, curled up behind a trash can. (Tr 802) Barge jumped on top of her, pinning her with his knees and both officers struggled with her. (Tr 802-804, 808) Diperna said that Andrea kicked, jerked, butted and tried to bite during the struggle. (Tr 802-804, 808) She was handcuffed and searched for weapons, but the officers found Andrea did not have a weapon. (Tr 803) Later, in the apartment, the officers found a pistol lying on top of a laundry hamper. (Tr 803, 508-509) Diperna testified that he did not smell alcohol on Andrea, and in his opinion, she was not high or intoxicated. (Tr 804, 808)²

State's Victim Impact Evidence

Four witnesses testified to victim impact information. (Tr 493, 824, 827, 831) The State's very first witness in this case was Nathaniel Glover, the first African-American sheriff of Duval County who had just recently been elected. (Tr 493)(R 215-216) Glover testified in full uniform. (R 209, 214) Glover said he knew Bevel personally and professionally. (Tr 494) In fact, Glover had urged Bevel to change from corrections to law

²Officer Barge later testified in the defense case. (Tr 1111) He said he found Andrea lying in a fetal position and jumped on her with his knees and his six foot three inches and 225 pounds to stun her. (Tr 1118-1119) He hit Andrea in the face during struggle to subdue her. (Tr 1119-1120) Barge detected a slight odor of alcohol, but he did not think Andrea was intoxicated or high. (Tr 1121, 1124)

enforcement and had actively recruited Bevel. (Tr 494) Glover characterized Bevel as friendly, never angry, a good friend and committed public servant. (Tr 494) The State closed its case with the remaining three victim impact witnesses, Bevel's mother and two more police officers. (Tr 824-836) Eda Bevel testified that her son was a warm, loving son who was friendly toward others. (Tr 824-827) Police Officer Jerry Thomas first met Gary Bevel when they worked in corrections at the jail. (Tr 828) He characterized Bevel as energetic and compassionate. (Tr 828) The two of them enjoyed a friendship which included participation in public service activities for underprivileged youth and senior citizens. (Tr 828-829) Detective T.C. O'Steen also met Bevel when they worked together at the jail. (Tr 831-832) The two men socialized, played sports and attended church together. (Tr 832-833) O'Steen became a police officer and Bevel remained working at the jail. (Tr 832) Bevel had told O'Steen that he did not want to be a policeman. (Tr 833) However, Bevel was later recruited and attended the police academy. (Tr 833) O'Steen said Bevel was an asset to the sheriff's office and would have surely advanced in the department. (Tr 834) O'Steen said that Bevel left a son and he had talked to the boy about his father. (Tr 834)

During closing argument, the prosecutor told the jury that the jury could use the victim impact evidence in its sentencing decision:

By the way, the final thing was victim impact and I'm going to spend a little time in few minutes about that but you obviously heard from the Sheriff, you heard from the victim's mother in this case, Miss Bevel, you heard from other people who knew him very well, T.C. O'Steen and Jerry Thomas, they just talked to you about how he was unique as a human being. And

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