IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 10 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

ANDREA HICKS JACKSON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 87,345

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-1778

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Kevin Hicks, Jackson's brother, testified that he was closest to Jackson when they were growing up. (TR 1524). He recalled that Jackson got into trouble at school fighting, but he had no knowledge of whether she was using drugs or alcohol. (TR 1526). Mr. Hicks testified that when Jackson went to junior high school, she started acting differently and got meaner, although Jackson made the basketball team, her mother made her quit because Jackson was a disciplinary problem. (TR 1527-1528). Mr. Hicks recalled that Jackson fought with her step-father Eddie Brown (TR 1531), and confirmed that the older Jackson got, the meaner she got. 1533). Beverly Turner, a distant cousin of Jackson's, would babysit for her when Jackson was a child. (TR 1537-1539). Ms. Turner remembered that there were times when Jackson did not want to go home and in her early teens she started running away. 1540-1541). It was her view that Jackson was an unhappy child but she lost touch with Jackson after Jackson got married.

The defense also introduced documents reflecting that Jackson was born on February 26, 1958, and married October 14, 1977. (TR

1561). The affidavit of her deceased brother Marvin Hicks was read to the jury and revealed that Jackson did not deal with life normally and, that she was into drugs early on. He blamed the neighborhood they lived in for the exposure to drugs, the fact that it was full of low income people. (TR 1562). He detailed how Shelton's family was into drugs and that he had seen Jackson use heroin. He recalled how when Jackson was pregnant, he lived with her because the neighborhood was a bad area. (TR 1564).

The affidavit of Barbara Hicks was also read to the jury. Barbara Hicks, Jackson's mother, stated that she loved her daughter and that the shooting of the officer hurt her greatly. (TR 1564-She stated that Jackson had the burden of carrying the fact that her mother could not name Jackson's father because he was a married man and a member of the church. (TR 1565). For the most part, Jackson was raised by her aunt who took care of her while her mother worked. Jackson's mother observed that Jackson was a smart child but started getting headaches at age eight and also had bladder infections. (TR 1567). She detailed how numerous Jackson's grades started slipping in the third and fourth grade and that she was called by the juvenile authorities because Jackson was a problem in school. (TR 1568). By the time Jackson was fifteen she was living with Shelton and she finally married him in 1977.

They had two sons, however Jackson's mother believes that the marriage was not good. (TR 1568-1569).

While not unmindful that many of the factors discussed herein could be considered mitigation in a given case, the facts and circumstances of the instant case and the nature of the mitigation herein do not rise to the level of mitigation. See Foster, supra, and Lucas v. State, 613 So.2d 408, 410 (Fla. 1992), wherein this Court recognized that whether a mitigator 'has been established is a question of fact, and a court's findings are presumed correct and will be upheld if supported by the record." See Sireci v. State, 587 So.2d 450 (Fla. 1991); Clark v. State, 613 So.2d 412 (Fla. 1992), and Hall v. State, 614 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1993):

In considering allegedly mitigating evidence the Court must decided if 'the facts alleged in mitigation are supported by the evidence,' if those established facts are 'capable of mitigating the defendant's punishment, i.e., . . may be considered as extenuating or reducing the degree of moral culpability for the crime committed', and if 'they are of sufficient weight to counterbalance aggravating factors. (cites omitted). whether a decision as to mitigating circumstance has been established is within the trial court's discretion.' **So.2d** at 412. The judge carefully and conscientiously applied the Rogers standard and resolved the conflict in the evidence, as this was his responsibility. (cite omitted). The record supports his conclusion that the mitigators either had not been established or

were entitled to little weight. Preston;
Ponticelli v. State, 593 So.2d 483 (Fla.
1991), vacated on other grounds, ____ U.S.
113 S.Ct. 32, 121 L.Ed.2d 5 (1992).

614 **So.2d** at 478-479.

The trial court did not err in concluding that the two statutory mitigating factors argued by Jackson were not applicable and further did not err in determining that no non-statutory mitigating evidence concerning Jackson's character or nature of the crime rose to the level of mitigation based on the facts and the testimony presented at resentencing.² All relief should be denied as to this claim. See Wuornos v. State, 644 So.2d 1000, 1010 (Fla. 1994).

Even assuming that this Court determines there was some evidence in mitigation show, any failure on the part of the trial court to specifically note said evidence, other than to say if it were found it would not make a difference is harmless error. Wickham v. State, 593 So.2d 191, 194 (Fla. 1991); Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526, 535 (Fla. 1987), and Wuornos v. State, 644 So.2d 1012, 1019-1020 (Fla. 1994) ('The vast bulk of the case for mitigation was hearsay. While hearsay can be admissible in the penalty phase, we cannot conceive that there is any absolute duty for the trial court to accept it in mitigation where, as here, the State's rebuttal established strong indicia of unreliability.").

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN IMPOSING A SENTENCE OF DEATH SINCE SUCH A SENTENCE IS NOT PROPORTIONAL.

Jackson argues that the death next sentence is disproportionate and must be reversed because there may be only one statutory aggravating factor, should this Court strike the CCP aggravating factor. The State would urge that the death penalty is proportional in this case because there are two strong statutory aggravating factors and no mitigation sub judice. Even assuming for the moment that only one statutory aggravating factor is left, to-wit: the combined aggravating factor that the murder was committed to avoid arrest, disrupt law enforcement and the person killed was a law enforcement officer, is sufficient to overcome the lack of any credible mitigation herein. See Duncan, 619 So.2d 279 (Fla. 1993), and Ferrell v. State, 680 So.2d 390, 391 (Fla. 1996), wherein the court held:

Although we have reversed the death penalty in single aggravator cases where substantial mitigation was present, we have affirmed the penalty despite mitigation in other cases where the lone aggravator was especially weighty.

680 So.2d at 391. The facts in the <u>Ferrell</u> case are very similar to the instant case in the sense that the nature of the crime was

very similar and the lone aggravating circumstance was weighty.

See also Armstrong v. State, 642 So.2d 730 (Fla. 1994); Hello v.

State, 547 So.2d 914 (Fla. 1989); Windom v. State, 656 So.2d 432

(Fla. 1995) (as to murders of two of the victims, the only aggravating factor was prior violent felony conviction, based on contemporaneous crime; in mitigation, trial court found no significant criminal history, extreme mental disturbance, substantial domination of another person, help in community, was good father, saved sister from drowning, saved another person from being shot over twenty dollars); Cardona v. State, 641 So.2d 361

(Fla. 1994) (mitigation included extreme emotional disturbance, daily use of cocaine and substantial impairment therefrom, rape as a child, did not meet father until she was twelve), and Grossman v. State, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1988).

Based on the foregoing, the trial court did not improperly sentence Jackson to death.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE PROSECUTOR TO MAKE REMARKS CONCERNING THE MERGER OF THREE STATUTORY AGGRAVATING FACTORS INTO ONE STATUTORY AGGRAVATING FACTOR.

During closing argument, the prosecutor, in discussing the merger of the three law enforcement aggravating circumstances into

one, informed the jury that great weight may be given these merged factors into one. Specifically, the objection arose when the State argued:

. . . Can you imagine? We'd have chaos. We would cease to exist as a nation. So what I submit to you, even though all three of these aggravators have to be merged, that this aggravator has got so much weight that no matter how much mitigation you believe this aggravator alone will outweigh that.

(TR 1635-1636).

Following the objection which was overruled, the prosecutor argued: "This aggravator alone will outweigh that because there is no mitigation here, and if there is, well we'll talk about that mitigation in a minute." (TR 1635-1636).

Citing to two problems that exist with regard to these remarks, defense counsel argues that this instruction "negated the fact that the three law enforcement circumstances merge into a single aggravating circumstance" (Appellant's Brief, page 63), and that the jury is to base "its sentencing decision on the need to send a law and order message to the community." (Appellant's Brief, page 63).

First of all, the record reflects that at sentencing, the trial court read to the jury the following instructions:

The aggravating circumstances that you may consider are limited to any of the following that are established by the evidence:

- 1. The crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or affecting an escape from custody.
- The crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. In order for you to consider this aggravating factor, you must find the murder was cold, and calculated, and that there premeditated, pretense of moral or legal justification. "cold" means the murder was the product of calm and cool reflection. "Calculated" means that the defendant had a careful plan or prearranged design to commit the murder. "Premeditated" means the defendant exhibited a higher degree of premeditation than that which is normally required in a premeditated murder. A "pretense of moral or legal justification" is any claim of justification or excuse that, though insufficient to reduce the degree of homicide, nevertheless rebuts the otherwise cold and calculating nature of the homicide.
- 3. The victim of the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of his official duties.
- 4. The crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed to disrupt or hinder the lawful exercise of any governmental function or the enforcement of laws.

As you may have observed, three of the aggravating factors I have defined for you are law enforcement related. These are the

following: The capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or affecting an escape from custody; the capital felony was committed to disrupt or hinder the lawful exercise of any governmental function or the enforcement of law; the victim of the capital felony was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of his official duties.

If you find any or all of these three aggravating circumstances to exist, you should consider them to have merged into one factor. This is because be proving the elements of one, the State may have proven the elements of the others. In other words, while it may be said that the Defendant shot Officer Bevel in order to escape custody, to say that she shot him to hinder law enforcement required an examination of what law enforcement activity she sought to disrupt. In this case, the activity was to arrest her; therefore, the same aspect of the offense is being used to justify those factors.

Likewise, if you find that either of those two aggravating circumstances existed, it would follow, at least in this case, that the victim was a law enforcement officer in the performance of his duties.

Therefore, if you find any or all of these law enforcement-type aggravating circumstances to exist, you are to treat them as only one aggravating factor. This is the same way the law requires me to consider these three aggravating circumstances in deciding what sentence to impose.

(TR 202-203, 1732-1734).

Clearly the jury was properly instructed with regard to how they were to consider the merging of these three aggravating factors if found. Moreover, the instruction was provided long after the prosecutor's remarks and after defense counsel also explained to the jury what the merger of these three aggravating factors meant. (TR 1678-1680). Indeed, a review of defense counsel's closing argument reveals that he read the jury instruction the trial court ultimately gave to the jury.

Clearly, under <u>Castro v. State</u>, 597 **So.2d** 259 (Fla. 1992), a proper limiting or merging instruction was given. The prosecutor's remarks with regard to what weight to give that aggravating factor did not result in a violation of this Court's reasoning in <u>Castro</u>, <u>supra</u>, which provides: ". . . A limiting instruction properly advises the jury that should it find both aggravating factors present, it must consider the two factors as one, . . .". 597 **So.2d** at 261.

Defense counsel did not make a specific objection to the statement made by the prosecutor, rather he merely argued that the argument was improper. The State did not argue that in some fashion this aggravator should become a super-aggravator, rather

the State argued there was substance to this aggravator.³ Such an argument is appropriate and does not violate the legal principal set out in Provence v. State, 337 So.2d 783 (Fla. 19761, or White v. State, 403 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1981).

As the second prong to Jackson's argument, she asserts that the prosecutor improperly argued that the jury, in its sentencing decision, "needs to send a law and order message to the community." First of all, the issue has not been preserved for review since nowhere did defense counsel make this specific objection. More importantly, however, nowhere did the prosecutor suggest such a result. To the extent that he was arguing that Jackson's conduct was disruptive to police authority, the State would submit that that, in fact, is the facts and circumstances of this crime. Jackson, in an attempt to avoid being arrested, shot and killed Officer Bevel. In Bonifav v. State, 680 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1996), the Court reaffirmed the caselaw with regard to closing argument. Therein, the Court stated:

. . . With respect to an attorney's arguments to the jury, we have previously stated:

³ <u>See Maxwell v. State</u>, 603 <u>So.2d</u> 490, 493 (Fla.1992), where court recognized some aggravating **facors** are more weighty than others.

Wide latitude is permitted in arguing to Thomas v. State, 326 So.2d 413 the jury. (Fla. 1975); Spencer v. State, 133 So.2d 729 (Fla. 1961), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 369 U.S. 880, 82 S.Ct. 1155, 8 L.Ed.2d 283 (1962), cert. denied, 372 U.S. 904, 83 S.Ct. 742, 9 L.Ed.2d 730 (1963). Logical inferences may be drawn, and counsel is allowed to legitimate advance all arguments. The control of comments is Spencer. within the trial court's discretion, and the appellate courts will not interfere unless an abuse of such discretion is Thou; Paramore v. State, 229 So.2d 855 (Fla. 1969), modified, 408 U.S. 935, 92 S.Ct. 2857, 33 L.Ed.2d 751 (1972). A new trial should be granted when it is 'reasonably evident that the remarks might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict of guilt than it would have otherwise done.' Darden v. State So.2d 287, 289 (Fla. 1976), cert. denied, 430 U.S. 704, 97 S.Ct. 308, 50 L.Ed.2d 282 (1977).Each case must be considered on its own merits, however, and within the circumstances surrounding the complainedof remarks. <u>Id</u>. <u>Compare</u> <u>Paramore</u> with Wilson v. State, 294 So.2d 327 (Fla. 1974).

Breedlove v. St-ate, 413 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla.),
cert. denied, 459 U.S. 882, 103 S.Ct. 184, 74
L.Ed.2d 149 (1982).

We have carefully reviewed the prosecutor's closing argument and do not find that the biblical references were fundamental error or even harmful error in the context of the entire argument. We also do not find, in the context of this case, the prosecutor's singular use of the word 'exterminate' to be harmful error.

Jackson's reliance on this Court's recent decision in Campbell v. State, ___ So.2d ___ (Fla. 1996), 21 Fla. L. Weekly S287, S288, is distinguishable. Clearly, the statements by the prosecutor in Campbell, specifically used the 'message to the community" terminology in closing argument. The Court concluded that the error was not harmless under State v. DiGuilio. 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), because 'on this record, it is entirely possible that several jurors voted for death, not out of reasoned sense of justice but out of a panicked sense of self-preservation." 21 Fla. L. Weekly at S288.

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